THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Pickens County
In the Court of Common Pleas
Hon. Alex Kinlaw, Jr. and Hon. Perry H. Gravely

2022-001499

Click Properties, LLC and Hyper Formance, LLC.....Respondents,

Versus

Thomas SC Properties, LLC and All-Tech Tire and Auto Repair, LLC.....Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Scarlet B. Moore, #72534
Attorney for Appellants
P.O. Box 17615
Greenville, S.C. 29606
(864) 214-5805
(864) 752-0930 (FAX)

November 13, 2023.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' motion to amend its answer to include a counterclaim for a declaratory judgment?**
- 2. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' Motion to Dismiss this matter?**
- 3. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment?**
- 4. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict?**
- 5. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' Post-Trial Motions and Motion to Reconsider?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal of a judgment entered against the Appellants following a jury trial which took place in Pickens County Court of Common Pleas on May 23-26, 2022. (R. pp. 16-18) The Appellants and Respondents in this matter are business entities that own adjacent parcels of commercial property in Pickens County, South Carolina. The Respondents own property at 3668 Calhoun Memorial Highway (the “Click” property), which was purchased by Brent Click on February 10, 2017 and later transferred to Click Properties, LLC. (R. p. 739, lines 16-19; R. p. 764, lines 11-14) Brent Click testified that he opened his shop in January, 2013, at the 3668 address, while the property was owned by Mark Smith. (R. p. 608, lines 11-23) The Appellant Thomas SC Properties owns property located at 3670 Calhoun Memorial Highway (the “Thomas” property), which was purchased by Jonathan Thomas on May 23, 2018. (R. p. 1113, lines 5-8) Jonathan Thomas owns a one-hundred-percent (100%) interest in Thomas SC Properties. In 2013, the Thomas property was owned by Greg Grissenger. (R. p. 721, lines 1-4) Between the two pieces of property lies a gravel driveway that allows both property owners to access the upper portion of both properties. (R. pp. 1375-1376) Pursuant to the evidence presented at trial, the majority of the gravel driveway is on the Click property, while the upper portion and a larger gravel area (the “turn around” area) is on the Thomas property. Prior to the inception of the litigation in this matter, both parties and their predecessors in ownership used both the driveway and turn-around areas, by “neighborly” permission. However, the Appellants asserted during the litigation that pursuant to a survey conducted in 1996 (the “Ramey” plat/survey) owners and lessors of both properties recognized the property lines as shown in the 1996 survey, which clearly showed that the disputed turnaround area that is at issue in this case is owned by the Thomas property. (R. pp. 1304-1310) Brent Click testified at trial that at

closing when he purchased the Click property, he was provided with the “Ramey Plat” showing the property lines of the neighboring plats. (R. p. 740, lines 1-2.; R. p. 1323; R. p. 1374) Brent Click specifically testified that he questioned the closing attorney and Mark Smith regarding ownership of the turnaround area, which was on the Thomas property, but was assured by Smith that he had a “right to that” despite the clear boundaries in the plat. (R. p. 742, lines 1-7) The property lines as displayed in the 1996 survey clearly showed that the turn-around area was located on the Thomas property. Additionally, Brent Click testified pursuant to cross-examination that he agreed that he did not have any document stating that he owned the turnaround area, nor any documents stating that he had a right to use the turnaround area. (R. p. 849, lines 12-25) Shelly Click, Brent Click’s wife, also testified that pursuant to the 1996 plat the turnaround area was not located on her property. (R. p. 931, lines 23-25; R. p. 932, lines 1-6) Click further testified that he did not have an inspection nor an appraisal done when he bought the Click property. (R. p. 851, lines 4-7) Click specifically testified at trial that the turnaround property is not his. (R. p. 852, lines 2-3)

On or about October, 2014 and prior to the 2017 purchase of the Click property by Brent Click, Mr. Click testified that he built a carport by pouring concrete next to the building he was renting. (R. p. 726, lines 1-6) On or about 2016, Brent Click (while renting the subject Click property prior to the purchase by Click Properties) erected awnings extending onto the Thomas property. (R. p. 1156, lines 3-7; R. p. 1156, lines 20-21.) Following the erection of the awnings, the interactions between Click and Thomas deteriorated, although the cause and characteristics of such was disputed at trial. Brent Click testified regarding his interest in buying the Thomas property from the previous owner, however the property was sold by the previous owner to Thomas for a reduced amount than the offer allegedly given to Click to buy the property. (R. p.

754, lines 7-16) Jimmy Watkins, who testified at the trial of this matter, stated that he told Brent Click that if he did not get along with the lessor of the Thomas property (the lessor being Jonathan Thomas) that he would erect a fence along his property line, which included most of the turn-around area and which would prevent Mr. Click from accessing the turn-around area for his business interests. Subsequently, Brent Click enforced *his* property line and blocked Jonathan Thomas and associates from using the gravel driveway, which also prevented Thomas and associates from accessing the Thomas property in the turnaround area. In addition, in 2018, the Respondents erected a gate on the lower portion of the Click property that prevented Mr. Thomas and his associates from accessing the upper portion of the Thomas property. In August, 2018, Jonathan Thomas excavated a portion of his land to build a driveway and parking area, following the series of events and exchanges between Jonathan Thomas and Brent Click. Over a year and a half after the excavation work was completed, the Respondents filed the present lawsuit against the Appellants seeking various points of relief which are discussed *infra*. (R. pp. 45-57) The Respondents' causes of action that survived pre-trial motions and directed verdict at trial were nuisance *per se*, negligence, acquiescence, prescriptive easement, and injunctive relief which issue would be submitted to the trial court following the jury's verdict.

As stated, on February 27, 2020, the Respondents filed a Motion for Temporary Injunction and Memorandum in Support of Motion, and a Summons and Complaint seeking various points of relief, and alleging the following causes of action: nuisance *per se*; negligence; declaratory judgment – quiet title; declaratory judgment – acquiescence; declaratory judgment – prescriptive easement; declaratory judgment – easement by estoppel; declaratory judgment – easement by necessity; and injunction. (R. pp. 45-57; R. pp. 64-80) On March 30, 2020, the Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss alleging that the Respondents had not properly alleged the

elements of a claim for nuisance and nuisance was not an appropriate cause of action. (R. pp. 81-82; R. pp. 100-108) On April 27, 2020 the Respondents filed the Respondents' Objection and Response to Appellants' Motion to Dismiss, and the Appellants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Preliminary Injunction. (R. pp. 83-4; R. pp. 93-99) Both parties filed affidavits of their clients in support of their respective positions. (R. pp. 85-92; R. pp. 118-126) On April 29, 2020 the Respondents filed their Reply to the Appellants' Response to Its Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Preliminary Injunction. (R. pp. 127-131) On May 8, 2020, Honorable Judge Perry H. Gravely issued an order granting the Respondents' request for a temporary injunction and denied the Appellants' motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 1-5) Subsequently, the Appellants filed an Answer and Jury Demand, including multiple affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 58-63) On December 7, 2020, the parties submitted the case to mediation, which ended in an impasse with no resolution of the issues before the Court. On February 23, 2022, the Appellants filed a Motion to Amend Answer to Add Counterclaim, and a Motion to Remove Temporary Injunction with a supporting affidavit from Jonathan Thomas. (R. pp. 132-159) On March 25, 2022, the Respondents filed their Respondents' Response in Opposition to Appellants' Motion to Remove Temporary Injunction with accompanying affidavits. (R. pp. 160-183) On April 27, 2022, Honorable Judge Alex Kinlaw issued an order denying the Appellants' motion to remove the temporary injunction and denying the Appellants' motion to amend Answer. (R. pp. 6-10) On April 14, 2022, the Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied by Judge Kinlaw. (R. pp. 11-15; R. pp. 187-191)

On April 27, 2022 the Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with an accompanying Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 192-265)

On May 9, 2022, the Appellants and Respondents filed respective Motions in Limine with accompanying Memorandums in Support of Motion. (R. pp. 266-336) On May 13, 2022, the Appellants filed their Appellants' Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 337-373) On May 17, 2022 the Respondents filed their Respondents' Response in Opposition to Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment with accompanying exhibits. (R. pp. 374-496)

This matter proceeded to a jury trial on May 23-26, 2022. At the conclusion of the Respondents' case-in-chief, the Appellants' moved for directed verdict. Judge Gravely found that four (4) of the Respondents' causes of action remained viable, which were nuisance *per se*, negligence, acquiescence, and prescriptive easement. The jury initially returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents, however the jury did not enter an amount of damages in favor of the Respondents. (R. p. 1291, lines 1-21) Subsequently, Judge Gravely instructed the jurors to return to the jury room to assess damages consistent with their judgment for the Respondents. (R. p. 1291, lines 5-11) Subsequently, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents on the nuisance *per se* claim and awarded actual damages of twenty-eight-thousand-dollars (\$28,000.00) and no punitive damages; returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents on the negligence claims and awarded actual damages of one-hundred-sixty-eight-thousand-dollars (\$168,000.00) and no punitive damages; returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents on the acquiescence claim; and returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents on the prescriptive easement claim. (R. pp. 1821-1822) On June 3, 2022, following the jury's verdict in this case, the Appellants filed Post-Trial Motions. (R. pp. 558-566) On the same date, Judge Gravely issued an order requiring the parties to file post-trial motions within ten (10) days of the verdict. (R. pp. 19-21) On June 6, 2022 – eleven (11) days after the jury's verdict was entered – Judge

Gravely filed his order pursuant to the Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment, finding the following: that the Respondents would not go forward on their claims of declaratory judgment for easement by necessity nor the claim for adverse possession; and, that the Appellants' motion was denied except for the action for declaratory judgment for easement by estoppel in which Judge Gravely found that there was no genuine issue of material fact and Appellants were entitled to summary judgment on this cause of action. (R. pp. 22-24) Also on June 6, 2022, the Respondents filed their Respondents' Motions and Memorandum for Declaratory Judgment Implementing Acquiescence and Prescriptive Easement and for Order Granting Temporary and Permanent Injunction with accompanying Exhibits. (R. pp. 567-577) On June 30, 2022, Judge Kinlaw denied the Appellants' motion to reconsider the court's previous order of April 7, 2022 denying the Appellants' motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 25-26) On July 19, 2022, the Respondents filed their Respondents' Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion for Post-Trial Relief. (R. pp. 578-590). On September 21, 2022, Judge Gravely issued his order denying the Appellants' Post-Trial Motions and granting the injunctive relief sought by the Respondents. (R. pp. 27-44) On October 21, 2022, the Appellants filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from a case tried before a jury in an action at law, appellate courts may not disturb the jury's factual findings "unless a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury's findings." Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). Thus, this Court's jurisdiction in those cases extends only to the correction of errors of law. In re Care & Treatment of Gonzalez , 409 S.C. 621, 628, 763 S.E.2d 210, 213 (2014). In re Chapman, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 843 (S.C. 2017)

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellants' motion to amend its answer to include a counterclaim for a declaratory judgment.

Standard of Review

"As a general rule, appellate courts will be bound by the factual findings of a lower court made in response to motions preliminary to trial where there has been conflicting evidence or where the findings are supported by evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law. City of Chester v. Addison, 277 S.C. 179, 182, 284 S.E.2d 579, 580 (1981).

Argument

Honorable Judge Alex Kinlaw erred in denying the Appellants' motion to file an amended answer to include a counterclaim. The Appellants sought to add a cause of action for Declaratory Judgment in their filing of February 23, 2022 (three months prior to the trial of this matter) due to the fact that a justiciable controversy existed between the parties to determine the rights of the parties with regard to the location of the shared property boundary line between the parties, rights to the gravel turnaround area located on the Appellants' property, and the Appellants' rights to use of the driveways off of Calhoun Memorial Highway to access its property. (R. pp. 132-135) Following the discovery process, the Appellants determined that to assure full adjudication of the issues between the parties that the Court should permit the amended Answer and counterclaim to add a claim pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, et seq, the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act. The Appellants in their motion correctly asserted that the Respondents would not be prejudiced by the amendment as the issues set forth in the proposed counterclaim were already set to be adjudicated as part of the Respondents' claims.

Lastly, pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the SCRCPP, the trial court must freely give leave to amend pleadings when justice so requires and the amendment does not prejudice any other party. The Respondents in this matter could not have been prejudiced by the amendment, contrary to the findings of Judge Kinlaw, due to the fact that the issues were already pending in their complaint. However, although Judge Kinlaw found that the issue was already pending in the Respondents' third cause of action requesting a declaratory judgment to quiet title as to the common property line of the parties, and that the proposed amendment would be futile to the Appellants, the Respondents actually abandoned this cause of action at the outset of the trial in pre-trial matters before Judge Gravely. (R. pp. 22-24)

Also problematic is the timing of the filing of Judge Kinlaw's orders regarding this issue. Judge Kinlaw filed his order on April 7, 2022, and then on April 29, 2022, which were identical orders. (R. pp. 6-10; R. pp. 11-15) The Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 14, 2022 asking Judge Kinlaw to reconsider his order regarding amendment of the complaint, however he did not issue an order denying the Appellants' motion until June 30, 2022 – over a month following the trial of this matter. (R. pp. 11-15) Judge Kinlaw should have permitted the Appellants to amend their answer to include a counterclaim as discussed, *supra*, and this matter should be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.

II. The trial court erred in denying the Appellants' Motion to Dismiss this matter.

Standard of Review

"As a general rule, appellate courts will be bound by the factual findings of a lower court made in response to motions preliminary to trial where there has been conflicting evidence or where the findings are supported by evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law. City of Chester v. Addison, 277 S.C. 179, 182, 284 S.E.2d 579, 580 (1981).

Argument

Honorable Judge Perry H. Gravely erred in denying the Appellants' Motion to Dismiss in summary fashion by merely finding that the Respondents' various causes of action have been properly plead without making specific factual findings to support the order. (Order of Judge Gravely, May 8, 2020.) The court found that in considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. HHHunt Corp v. Town of Lexington, 699 S.E.2d 699, 703 (S.C. App. 2010). "The trial court.....must presume all well pled facts to be true." Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland, 701 S.E.2d 39, 44 (S.C. App. 2010). In the case at bar, the Appellants' trial counsel submitted a sound Memorandum in Support of the Appellants' Motion to Dismiss. (Memorandum in Support of Appellants' Motion to Dismiss.) The Appellants fully incorporate the entirety of the Memorandum in Support of Appellants' Motion to Dismiss into the Appellants' argument as if wholly reproduced herein. Specifically, after providing a recitation of the Facts, Appellants' counsel asserted that the Respondents' claims for nuisance, negligence, acquiescence, and prescriptive easement (the causes of action that ultimately remained for the jury's verdict), all must fall. Of particular concern to the

Appellants is the nuisance claim of Respondents due to the fact that Judge Gravely entered an order following the trial of this matter requiring the Appellants to abate the nuisance – seemingly adding to the jury’s verdict of award of damages for nuisance (which is discussed in more detail *infra*). (Judge Gravely’s order of September 21, 2022.) As Appellants’ trial counsel asserted, a nuisance claim is wholly inapplicable to excavation that allegedly caused erosion and damage to structures on the Respondents’ property. The S.C. Supreme Court held in the case of Contos Metracas v. Jamison Morris, 81 S.C. 488 (S.C. 1908) that “the general law is well settled that a proprietor excavating on his own premises is liable for damage done to the adjacent owner’s soil.....and no action lies against such excavator except upon allegation and proof of negligence.” See also Bailey v. Gray, 53 S.C. 518, 31 S.E. 354. Further, pursuant to Chestnut v. Avx Corp., 776 S.E.2d 82, 85 n. 5 (S.C. 2015), a plaintiff must articulate *how* the alleged nuisance interferes with the plaintiff’s use and enjoyment of their land, which the Respondent’s complaint fails to do. The claim of nuisance simply does not fit the allegations and facts of this case, and Judge Gravely erred in denying the Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss on nuisance.

Judge Gravely further erred in denying the Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss regarding the claim of negligence. As Appellants’ counsel asserts in Memorandum In Support of Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss, the Respondents’ negligence claim fails because the complaint does not allege a duty of care and does not meet South Carolina pleading standards. The only allegations of the Complaint in this matter are that Thomas owed a duty “not to harm others and not to unreasonably interfere with the rights of adjoining landowners,” which is not an actionable duty of care under South Carolina law. (Complaint) Additionally, as trial counsel asserted, the Respondents alleged specific breaches of duty without identification of the legal duties that were breached. Respondents alleged that Thomas “failed to properly supervise the excavation of its

premises,” but failed to state a legal standard or basis on which a landowner owes a legal duty to supervise activities on the landowner’s private premises. (Complaint) Further, Respondents failed to identify an actionable basis for protective, preventative or cautionary duties owed to the Respondents in Paragraph 32, subparagraphs (a), (c), (d) or (e) of the Complaint. (Complaint) The Respondents further failed to identify the specific harm or articulate how the alleged actionable harm was foreseeable.

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