**RECEIVED**

**Oct 30 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. and Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judges

---

Case No. 2020-CP-39-00266  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001499

---

Click Properties, LLC and Hyper Formance, LLC..... Respondents

v.

Thomas SC Properties, LLC and All-Tech Tire and Auto Repair, LLC ..... Appellants

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

Bradford N. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 3658)  
Laura W. H. Teer, Esq. (SC Bar No. 16698)  
Gwendolyn G. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 1897)  
Bradford Neal Martin & Associates, PA

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

---

<sup>73</sup> R. p. 1102, lines 8-10.

## VI. ACQUIESCENCE AND PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT ARE NOT INCONSISTENT

Appellants' assertion that the verdicts of acquiescence and prescriptive easement are inconsistent is incorrect. The law of prescriptive easement and acquiescence are not at odds with one another. Although these theories have different effects, they share common elements of proof.

Each requires that Respondents openly enjoyed the property at issue and each can be satisfied by the tacit agreement of the Appellants. *See e.g. Kelley v. Westover*, 938 S.W.2d 235, 236 (Ark. App. 1997) (“The foundation of a right by prescription is acquiescence of the owner of the servient tenement in the acts relied on to establish the easement by prescription. Acquiescence is here used in its ordinary sense; it does not mean license or permission in the active sense, but means passive assent or submission, quiescence, or consent by silence.”) As noted by one court, “[i]n the very nature of [prescriptive easement] case[s] . . . every such user is by permission of the owner of the servient tenement in the sense that he permits it to continue without exercising his right to terminate it. A permissive user therefore as distinguished from one exercised under a claim of right is not to be inferred from mere passive acquiescence.” *Gallo-Mure v. Tomchik*, 829 A.2d 8 (Conn. App. 2003) citing *Phillips v. Bonadies*, 105 Conn. 722, 726, 136 A. 684, 685 (1927). Other courts have similarly held that the law of adverse possession is not at odds with the law of acquiescence. *See Houston v. Mint Group, LLC*, 968 N.W.2d 9 (Mich. Ct. App. 2021). Adverse possession is akin to “adverse easement,” or prescriptive easement.

Both causes of action begin with the premise that although real property belongs to one party according to legal title, the open actions of another party in openly and adversely using the property for a certain period of time, creates equitable title in the other party. The primary

difference in the two causes of action is whether the Respondents acquired ownership up to a new boundary-line or a permanent right to use the property in dispute.

This Court must uphold a jury verdict if it is possible to reconcile its various features. *Camden v. Hilton*, 360 S.C. 164, 174, 600 S.E.2d 88, 93 (Ct.App.2004). A jury verdict is not overturned simply because alternative causes of action have been alleged. In the present case the Jury found Respondents are entitled to the property in question. Respondents obviously elect to set the boundary line as acquiesced to, if a formal election is required.

Prescriptive easement focuses primarily on the actions of the party seeking to establish the easement. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 304, 772 S.E.2d 163, 169-170 (2015). The only consideration to be given to the actions of Appellants is whether permission has been given. Respondents and their predecessors in title testified that they had neither requested nor received permission to use the contested area. There was no testimony from the Appellants or their predecessors to the contrary.

Under South Carolina law, property owners may acquiesce to a new property boundary. “A disputed boundary line can be established by acquiescence of the parties.” *Kirkland v. Gross*, 286 S.C. 193, 197, 332 S.E.2d 546, 548-49 (Ct.App.1985). Respondents presented evidence that the property at issue was recognized as a result of the topography of the land. The only testimony was that the owners of both parcels treated the boundary of the property as that created by the slope of the land and as shown as the driveway and turnaround area depicted on the 1996 Ramey Boundary Survey.

The element of “mutual agreement” that must be shown to establish acquiescence does not require an explicitly voiced agreement of where on a plat the boundary line is shown.<sup>74</sup> In acquiescence cases, the boundary line in a plat or deed (unless erroneously rendered in such instruments) is going to differ from the boundary acquiesced to over a period of time by mutual conduct. Respondents presented sufficient evidence to allow the Jury to conclude that the Appellants’ silence and treatment of the now disputed area as part of the Click Property constituted acquiescence. *See Jordan v. Judy, supra*, 413 S.C. 341, 348-349, 776 S.E.2d 96, 101 (Ct. App. 2015).

The Jury’s finding as to prescriptive easement and acquiescence are therefore consistent. The Jury found that Respondents were entitled to the disputed property, whether by way of prescriptive easement or acquiescence.

## **VII. RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO AN INJUNCTION**

### **A. Evidence Supporting an Injunction**

Respondents received a unanimous jury verdict over a year ago, finding Appellants liable for nuisance *per se* and negligence arising out of Appellants’ DIY excavation of the Thomas Property in August 2018. Appellants’ owner, Jonathan Thomas, performed his own “self help” excavation, rather than hiring a qualified, professional excavator.<sup>75</sup> Appellants’ excavation caused significant damage to Respondents’ driveway, turnaround, and back building, which is ongoing to this day. As set forth above, Respondents presented evidence at trial to reasonably support the Jury’s finding of nuisance.

---

<sup>74</sup> The location of the driveway and turnaround as used by the Rameys was depicted on the 1996 plat with dotted lines. Trial Exhibit P-8, R. p. 1323.

<sup>75</sup> R. p. 1034, lines 18-24; R. p. 1144, lines 6-16; R. p. 1145, lines 12-25.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has held:

It has been too frequently held by this Court to require further discussion that, when the existence of a nuisance has been established by the verdict of the jury, the party injured is entitled as a matter of right to an injunction to prevent its continuance.

*Dill v. Dance Freight Lines*, 247 S.C. 159, 146 S.E.2d 574, 575 (1966), citing *Williams v. Haile Gold Mining Co.*, 85 S.C. 1, 66 S.E. 117 (1909).

In *Dill*, the plaintiff obtained a verdict for both actual damages and a finding of nuisance against the defendant who, in operating his trucking business, caused red dust to continuously blanket plaintiff's property. Likewise, the Jury in this case found actual damages and that Respondents established a nuisance as a result of Appellants' DIY digging.

Testimony was presented by Respondents' expert witness, David Hall, P.E. that erosion was continuing on the Click property.<sup>76</sup> Lay testimony by Mr. and Mrs. Click, Chris Eleazer, Chris Danner, and photographic evidence was presented that continuing erosion was occurring on the property and there was continuing impact on the building based on enlarged and new cracks and the dropping of the ground in the grassy area beside the building.<sup>77</sup>

The lower court in *Dill* issued an order, affirmed by the Supreme Court, that "enjoins the defendant from operating its terminal in such a manner as to continually and frequently cause the dust complained of to be cast upon the property of the plaintiff." The Supreme Court also held that the defendant was ". . . free to devise its own means to prevent damaging the plaintiff in the future."<sup>78</sup> In *Dill*, the court issued an injunction, but it was up to the party to determine how to

---

<sup>76</sup> See notes 39, 40, and 43, *supra*.

<sup>77</sup> See notes 31, 48, and 49 *supra*.

<sup>78</sup> 247 S.C. at 163; 146 S.E.2d at 575.

comply with the Order. Judge Gravely similarly ruled that Appellants were free to devise their own means to prevent continuing damage.

Judge Gravely's ruling is entirely consistent with South Carolina law and not an abuse of discretion. *Dill* is directly on point. Judge Gravely did not add to the Jury's verdict, he only implemented it in compliance with *Dill*. *Dill* awarded plaintiff both actual damages and an injunction. Respondents respectfully request his Order to be affirmed.

**B. The Trial Court Properly Denied Appellants' Motion for Directed Verdict as to Injunctive Relief**

Because the Respondents presented evidence from which the Jury could infer a continuing nuisance, the trial court properly denied Appellants' motions for directed verdict and JNOV. Additionally, Appellants have abandoned the issue of a new trial as to an injunction.

**VIII. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADDRESSED THE INCONSISTENT VERDICT ISSUE**

The Jury initially returned a verdict on nuisance *per se* in favor of the Respondents but awarded zero dollars in damages. As the Court of Appeals summarized in *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715 (Ct. App. 1996):

A trial court is vested with very limited power to correct a jury verdict which is defective in form, but which in substance clearly and definitely expresses the jury's intentions. . . .

"The law rather forbids this court assuming to take upon itself the powers, duties, rights, and privileges of a jury." [internal citations omitted]. . . .

The quintessential case presenting the issue of reformation of the jury verdict is a jury verdict for "no dollars." The court cannot lawfully enter judgment on an inconsistent or incomplete verdict. *Johnson v. Phillips* 315 S.C. 407, 433 S.E.2d 895 (Ct. App. 1993) rev'd in part on other grounds 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) . . . .

When the jury returns a verdict of "no damages" for the plaintiff, the judge should inform the jury that he cannot legally accept the verdict, and should return the case to them with instructions explaining nominal and compensatory damages and charging them either to assess a definite dollar amount in damages (nominal or actual) for the plaintiff or to return a verdict for the defendant.

*Vinson, supra*, 477 S.E.2d at 724-726.

This is what Judge Gravely did: he explained to the Jury the necessity to return to the Jury Room and to solve the problem. It is of no relevance that the Jury was able to quickly determine the damages attributable to the nuisance created by Appellants. As a general rule, the shortness of time taken by a jury in reaching its verdict has no effect upon the validity of the verdict. *Youmans v. Dept. of Transp.*, 380 S.C. 263, 670 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2008) South Carolina law requires the jury to be the sole judge of issues of fact, including the issue of damages. *Johnson, supra*, 315 S.C. at 416-17, n. 7, 433 S.E.2d at 901, n. 7. Therefore, there is no basis for reversal since this matter was handled as the Appellate Courts have instructed the trial court to do.

Appellants claim in their Brief on p. 39 that Judge Gravely's instructions to the Jury were error. No objection was made to the instructions at the time,<sup>79</sup> and therefore, the matter is not preserved:

It is firmly established law that, ordinarily, an issue must be presented to the trial court or it is not preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693- 94 (2003) ("Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) ("To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court.").

*State v. Dial*, 429 S.C. 128, 132, 38 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2020).

---

<sup>79</sup> R. p. 1290, line 24 – R. p. 1291, line 24.

**IX. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL FOLLOWING THE JURY'S CORRECTION OF ITS INCONSISTENT VERDICT**

Appellants argue the Thirteenth Juror doctrine should apply to the issue of the corrected Jury Verdict. This doctrine entitles the trial judge to act as the thirteenth juror when he finds "the evidence does not justify the verdict," and then to grant a new trial based solely "upon the facts." *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 254, 387 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1990).

Upon review, a trial judge's order granting or denying a new trial will be upheld unless the order is "wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law." *Folkens*, 300 S.C. at 254-55, 387 S.E.2d at 267 (citing *South Carolina State Highway Dep't v. Clarkson*, 267 S.C. 121, 226 S.E.2d 696 (1976)). This Court's "review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order." *Id.* at 255, 387 S.E.2d at 267.

Brent testified that the Click Property had lost approximately one-third of its value, or \$83,000, as a result of the excavation.<sup>80</sup> As the property owner, Brent is qualified to give this testimony.<sup>81</sup> This testimony alone would support the Jury's finding of \$28,000 in damages for nuisance.

The trial court gave a curative instruction to the jury. A curative instruction is generally deemed to have cured any alleged error. *State v. White*, 371 S.C. 439, 445, 639 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct.App.2006). The Jury did not need to be re-instructed on the law as they already had copies of the Judge's written instructions to refer to and the verdict form itself was explicit as to the options

---

<sup>80</sup> R. p. 843, lines 2-18.

<sup>81</sup> *Seaboard Coast Line R. R. v. Harrelson*, 262 S.C. 43, 202 S.E.2d 4 (1974).

for decisions that could be made. A trial court may, in its discretion, submit its instructions on the law to the jury in writing. *State v. Turner*, 373 S.C. 121, 129, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007).

Therefore, the trial court properly denied Appellants' motion for a new trial.

**X. JUDGE KINLAW DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO AMEND**

The allowance of an amendment to pleadings is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and his actions will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Porter Bros., Inc. v. Specialty Welding Co.*, 286 S.C. 39, 331 S.E.2d 783 (Ct. App. 1985); *Crowley v. Spivey*, 288 S.C. 397, 329 S.E.2d 774 (Ct. App. 1985).

Rule 15(a), SCRPC, sets forth the standard for granting motions to amend. It provides:

A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served . . . Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.

This case had been pending for two years and was scheduled to be tried during the May 23, 2022 Term when Appellants filed their Motion to Amend. Judge Kinlaw found that a counterclaim at that late stage of litigation would be prejudicial to Respondents. (R. 13). He also found that such an amendment would be futile in that it would prolong litigation and would not serve the ends of justice, especially considering that Respondents' Third Cause of Action already requested a Declaratory Judgment to Quiet Title as to the common property line of the parties. (R. 13). *See Jennings v. Jennings*, 389 S.C. 190, 209, 697 S.E.2d 671, 681 (Ct. App. 2010) ("Although leave to amend should generally be 'freely given,' ... it may be denied where the proposed amendment would be futile."), rev'd on other grounds, 401 S.C. 1, 736 S.E.2d 242 (2012).

Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP, is substantially similar to its federal counterpart, Rule 7(b)(1), FRCP. *See Camp v. Camp*, 378 S.C. 237, 662 S.E.2d 458 (Ct. App. 2008). “[A] motion that fails to state any grounds for relief . . . is insufficient under Rule 7(b)(1).” *Allender v. Raytheon Aircraft Co.*, 439 F.3d 1236, 1240 (10th Cir. 2006). Appellants’ own Motion and Memorandum established that the Counterclaim added nothing to the case and was unnecessary because “the issues set forth in Defendants’ Counterclaim are already set to be adjudicated as part of Plaintiffs’ claims.”<sup>82</sup>

There were no grounds stated that showed with “particularity” why amendment at such a late stage should be granted. The particularity requirement “is to be read flexibly in recognition of the peculiar circumstances of the case.” *Lucey v. Meyer*, 401 S.C. 122, 131, 736 S.E.2d 274, 279 (Ct. App. 2012) quoting *Cambridge Plating Co., Inc. v. Napco, Inc.*, 85 F.3d 752, 760 (1st Cir.1996). Judge Kinlaw did not abuse his discretion in denying the Motion.

Even if this Court were to find the lower court erred, it is harmless because Appellants have not demonstrated prejudice. The issues that Appellants claim they wanted to raise in their Amended Answer and Counterclaim, were the very issues presented by both parties at trial. Therefore, a new trial or any further proceedings are not warranted. *McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 479 S.E.2d 67, 325 S.C. 327 (Ct. App. 1996) citing *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 336 S.E.2d 150 (1985) (errors are harmless where they could not have reasonably affected the trial).

## **XI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT**

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